2008

Wilma L. Schwenke, Tania P. Schwenke, Cindy Lawrence, and Wayne Wong v. Intermountain Inc. dba Intermountain Isuzu v. Wilma L. Schwenke, Tania P. Schwenke, Cindy Lawrence, Wayne Wong, and Victor Lawrence : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES**

There are no related cases.

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. §78A-3-102 (3)(j). The Utah Supreme Court has transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. §78A-3-102(4). The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. §78A-4-103(2)(j).

### **IDENTIFICATION OF THE PARTIES**

Appellants Victor Lawrence (“Mr. Lawrence”) and Cindy Lawrence (“Ms. Lawrence”) (collectively, the “Lawrences”) were married during the times relevant to this action but have since divorced. Although Ms. Lawrence has remarried and changed her name, this brief will refer to her as “Ms. Lawrence” for the sake of convenience. Appellee is Intermountain, Inc. (“Intermountain”).

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- Whether the trial court erred in finding the Lawrences liable for conspiracy to defraud, while simultaneously finding Intermountain failed to prove the Lawrences committed fraud where the trial court could not “identify any affirmative misrepresentations made directly by Mr. [or Ms.] Lawrence to Intermountain.” (R. 2578).
- Whether the trial court erred in basing its finding that Ms. Lawrence had requisite knowledge of a conspiracy entirely on a judicial admission, where Ms. Lawrence had no actual knowledge, did not retain the attorney who made any judicial admission, did not know of or review the complaint in which was found the claimed judicial

admission, and only ratified, if at all, “the cause of action ... asserted,” but not any particular factual allegation in the complaint. (R. 2578).

- Whether the trial court erred in imputing knowledge of any alleged scheme to Mr. Lawrence based upon his marriage and cohabitation with Ms. Lawrence.
- Whether the trial court erred in holding the Lawrences liable for conversion and determining the period of conversion, when Intermountain lacked any right to possession of the vehicle before January 31, 2001, and the Lawrences did not have possession of the vehicle after that date.
- Whether the punitive damages awarded by the trial court were in excess of the constitutional limits set forth in *State Farm Ins. Co. v. Campbell* and the principles set forth in *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange*.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The appellate court reviews the district court’s findings of fact for clear error and conclusions of law de novo. *See Buckner v. Kennard*, 99 P.3d 842, 846 (Utah 2004).

### **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

Amendment XIV of the United States Constitution: “... No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law....”

Section 7 of the Utah Constitution provides: “No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.”

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**  
**(Course of Proceedings, Disposition in Trial Court)**

The Lawrences' appeal is from the trial court's written Findings of Fact ("FF") and Conclusions of Law ("CL") (Addendum "A") following a four-day bench trial, entered on August 13, 2007, finding the Lawrences liable for conspiracy to defraud and conversion, and from the trial court's Supplemental Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment ("SF") (Addendum "B") following a two-day bench trial on punitive damages, entered on June 25, 2008, awarding punitive damages against the Lawrences.

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Intermountain, Inc. is a licensed motor vehicle dealer and Isuzu franchisee. (FF ¶2.)

2. A. Paul Schwenke ("Mr. Schwenke") was a business client of Mr. Lawrence, an attorney, who established a business entity named cSave.net, LLC ("cSave.net" or the "LLC"). On November 4, 1999, Mr. Lawrence prepared Articles of Organization and an Operating Agreement for cSave.net. Wayne Wong ("Mr. Wong") was a managing member of the LLC. (FF, ¶¶ 3-4.)

3. On or about March 2000, Mr. Schwenke determined to lease certain vehicles for personal use by his wife Wilma and his daughter Tania. According to Mr. Lawrence, Mr. Schwenke also intended to lease a vehicle for the Lawrences' personal use as partial payment for legal services rendered by Mr. Lawrence. (FF, ¶6).

4. On March 29, 2000, Mr. Schwenke sent, on cSave.net letterhead, an inquiry to Intermountain regarding leasing three vehicles. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 10,

hereinafter “Ex.,” attached hereto as Addendum “C”).

5. Only Mr. Wong signed the leases for the three vehicles on or about March 31, 2000. Mr. Schwenke was present when the three leases were signed. (FF, ¶¶ 8, 11).

6. Part of the information Mr. Schwenke and Mr. Wong gave to Intermountain in applying for the three leases was cSave.net’s application for an employer identification number. (Trial Transcript, Volume I., p.29, lines 1-8, hereinafter “Trans., Vol.”) (Relevant portions of the Trans. are attached hereto as Addendum “D,” see also Ex. No. 15, attached as Addendum “E”).

7. Mr. Schwenke agreed to pay Mr. Wong \$10,000 to sign the leases. (FF, ¶8).<sup>1</sup>

8. Mr. Lawrence issued a personal check to Intermountain to cover the down payment for each of the three vehicles. Mr. Lawrence was subsequently reimbursed by Mr. Schwenke for that expenditure. (FF, ¶12) (Trans. Vol. IV, p. 359).

9. Following Mr. Wong's signing of the leases, the Lawrences took possession of a black Isuzu Rodeo (the "Black Rodeo"). (FF, ¶19). Two other Isuzu Rodeos (the “Green Rodeo” and the “Silver Rodeo”) were possessed by Mr. Schwenke’s wife and daughter. The Lawrences never had possession of the Green and

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial court found the plaintiffs in the underlying action, including Ms. Lawrence, had knowledge of the \$10,000 payment to Mr. Wong. (FF, ¶8). The trial court imputed that knowledge to Ms. Lawrence because of a judicial admission. (FF, ¶9). The trial court also imputed knowledge to Mr. Lawrence because he was married to Ms. Lawrence. As argued herein, Ms. Lawrence did not have actual knowledge of any inducement, did not commit an unlawful act and the trial court should not have found a judicial admission. Further, any knowledge by Ms. Lawrence may not be imputed to Mr. Lawrence solely by their marriage.

Silver Rodeos. (FF, ¶19).

10. When they took possession, Mr. and Ms. Lawrence understood the leases would be paid for by cSave.net. (Trans., Vol. I, p. 193, lines 20 & 21; Trans., Vol. I, p. 194, line 20 through p., 195, line5 ; Trans., Vol. I, p. 199, lines 9 -17; & Trans., Vol. II, p. 220, lines 1-6).

11. Intermountain sold the lease for the Silver and Green Rodeos to Isuzu Motors Acceptance Corporation. (FF, ¶ 20).

12. Intermountain sold the lease for the Black Rodeo to Bank of America, N.A. (FF, ¶ 20).

13. Neither cSave.net nor Mr. Wong made any payments on the leases. (FF, ¶¶21, 24).

14. A complaint (the “Complaint) was filed against Intermountain for breach of contract.<sup>2</sup> (R. 1).

15. On January 31, 2001, Bank of America assigned all of its rights, title and interest in the Black Rodeo to Intermountain in exchange for \$35,278.24 - \$28,974.24 representing the vehicle pay off and \$6,331 in attorney fees and costs. (FF, ¶25).

16. Intermountain repurchased the Black Rodeo on January 31, 2001 from Bank of America, N.A. (FF, ¶¶ 25, 28; see also Ex. 61, attached hereto as Addendum “F”).

---

<sup>2</sup> The Complaint names Ms. Lawrence as a Plaintiff. As set forth below, Ms. Lawrence had no knowledge the Complaint had been filed. She did not retain the attorney who filed it, let alone



17. On January 31, 2001, the same day Intermountain repurchased the lease, Intermountain tried to repossess the Black Rodeo. Mr. Lawrence intervened and said he would not turn over the vehicle without a court order. After being called to the scene, the police allowed Mr. Lawrence to leave the scene with the Black Rodeo. (FF, ¶28).

18. Immediately after the attempted repossession, Mr. Lawrence turned the Black Rodeo over to Mr. Schwenke because he understood cSave.net, of whom Mr. Schwenke was the owner, to be the lessee of the vehicle. (FF, ¶ 29, Trans., Vol. II, p. 229, lines 1-20).

19. Intermountain obtained a writ and order of replevin on the Black Rodeo on October 5, 2001. (Ex. 81).

20. Mr. Schwenke returned the Black Rodeo to Intermountain in 2002. When Mr. Schwenke returned the vehicle, it had been totaled in an accident (FF, ¶34).

21. The trial court found the Lawrences were not liable for fraud, because the trial court could not “identify any affirmative misrepresentations made directly by Mr. [or Ms.] Lawrence to Intermountain,” but were liable for conspiracy to defraud and for conversion. (CL, ¶¶ 59, 61 & 65).

22. The trial court calculated Intermountain’s monetary damages as follows: Intermountain paid \$32,202.08 to repurchase the lease on the Silver Rodeo, and \$28,272.13 to repurchase the lease on the Green Rodeo. (FF, ¶ 23). Intermountain was required to repurchase the lease on the Black Rodeo for \$35,278.24, including attorneys fees and costs. (FF, ¶ 25). The total amount Intermountain expended to

---

review it before filing.

repurchase the three Rodeos was \$95,752.45. (FF, ¶ 35). The trial court added \$8,000 in expenses, then subtracted out \$23,408.98 (the amount for which Intermountain resold the three vehicles) to reach a net loss of \$80,412.87. (FF, ¶35).<sup>3</sup>

23. The trial court found the Lawrences jointly and severally liable for conspiracy to defraud in the amount of \$80,412.87. (CL, ¶ 69).

24. The trial court found the Lawrences jointly and severally liable for conversion of the Black Rodeo from April 1, 2000, until January 31, 2001, in the amount of \$3,625.40, plus prejudgment interest. (CL, ¶ 69).

25. The trial court also found Mr. Lawrence separately liable for conversion of the Black Rodeo from April 1, 2000, until July 10, 2003, in the amount of \$34,282.20, plus prejudgment interest. (CL, ¶¶ 66, 69).

26. The trial court found Mr. Lawrence's conduct caused Intermountain to sustain financial damages that, with prejudgment interest, amounted to \$138,267.25 as of August 13, 2007. The court concluded that punitive damages, to be awarded in favor of Intermountain and against Mr. Lawrence, should be in the amount of \$484,000. (SF, p. 37).

27. The trial court found Ms. Lawrence's conduct caused Intermountain to sustain financial damages that, with prejudgment interest, amounted to \$138,267.25 as of August 13, 2007. The court concluded that punitive damages, to be awarded in favor of Intermountain and against Ms. Lawrence, should be in the amount of \$99,999.99. (SF, p.41).

---

<sup>3</sup> The trial court's calculation is off by \$69.40.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court found the Lawrences liable for conspiracy to defraud despite finding no liability for direct fraud. The trial court could not “identify any affirmative misrepresentations made directly by Mr. [or Ms.] Lawrence to Intermountain.” (FF, ¶¶ 60, 64). In order to be liable for conspiracy to defraud, the plaintiff must prove all the elements of the underlying fraud. Because Intermountain failed to prove the Lawrences liable for direct fraud, the conspiracy to defraud ruling should be reversed as a matter of law. There were no unlawful, fraudulent acts directly committed by the Lawrences and a finding of fraud against a codefendant cannot be imputed to them.

The trial court erred in imputing knowledge of a conspiracy to Ms. Lawrence on the basis of a judicial admission, when the uncontroverted evidence at trial showed Ms. Lawrence had no actual knowledge of a conspiracy, and where any judicial admission, if one is found, relates only to ratification of the “cause of action” asserted, not as to any particular factual allegation. Further, the trial court erred in imputing knowledge of a conspiracy to Mr. Lawrence by reason of his marriage to and cohabitation with Ms. Lawrence.

Despite only having possession of the Black Rodeo for a period of 10 months, the trial court found Mr. Lawrence liable for conversion for a period of years, including time when the vehicle was in possession of other persons. Further, the trial court erroneously found the Lawrences liable for conversion months before Intermountain had any right to this vehicle, which was not assigned by Bank America until January 31, 2001, and months before Intermountain obtained a writ of replevin.

Finally, the trial court entered punitive damages against the Lawrences for Intermountain's loss of three vehicles, even though they only had possession of one of those vehicles for a period of 10 months. The trial court's punitive damage award also exceeds the constitutional limits set forth in *State Farm Ins. Co. v. Campbell* and the principles set forth in *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange* for the following reasons, among others: the trial court included pre-judgment interest and attorney fees to determine the amount of punitive damages; the punitive damage award could not be based on conspiracy to defraud because the trial court erred in finding the Lawrences liable for such a conspiracy; and the amount of time the Lawrences could be liable for any conversion was erroneously determined.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT 1. UTAH LAW PRECLUDES FINDING A PARTY CONSPIRED TO DEFRAUD WHERE THE ELEMENTS OF THE UNDERLYING FRAUD ARE NOT PROVEN**

##### *A. Conspiracy to Defraud Requires Proof of the Underlying Fraud*

The Utah Supreme Court has held “conspiracy to defraud requires proof of the underlying fraud.” *Gildea v. Guardian Title*, 970 P.2d 1265, 1271 (Utah 1998). Under Utah law, conspiracy to defraud is defined as “fraud committed by two or more persons who share an intent to defraud another.” *DeBry v. Cascade Enters.*, 879 P.2d 1353, 1358 (Utah 1994). In order to prevail on a claim of conspiracy to commit fraud, the plaintiff must prove by clear and convincing evidence the elements of fraud. *Gildea*, 970 P.2d at 1271. An action for conspiracy to defraud falls within the ambit of secondary claims that require proof of the underlying tort. *See Colores v. Sabey*, 79 P.3d 974, 983 (Utah Ct.

App. 2003) (holding that in order to sufficiently plead a secondary claim based on fraud, a plaintiff needs to sufficiently plead fraud).

Here, the trial court stated, with respect to both Lawrences, “the Court cannot conclude that Intermountain established by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. [or Ms.] Lawrence’s actions satisfy the elements of fraud.” The trial court could not “identify any affirmative misrepresentation made directly by Mr. [or Ms.] Lawrence to Intermountain.” CL, ¶¶ 60 & 63. Despite these conclusions, the trial court determined the Lawrences are liable for conspiracy to defraud. See CL, ¶¶ 61 & 65 (“Although the Court does not hold that Mr. [and Ms.] Lawrence directly committed fraud, the Court concludes that Mr. [and Ms.] Lawrence conspired to defraud Intermountain”). Such a finding is inconsistent with Utah law requiring the establishment of the elements of fraud in order to find a conspiracy to defraud. *Gildea*, 970 P.2d at 1271. Because Intermountain failed to establish the Lawrences committed civil fraud, the trial court was precluded from finding the Lawrences were liable for conspiracy to commit fraud and such finding should be reversed.

*B. Conspiracy to defraud requires overt participation in the primary fraud*

The trial court found Mr. Wong liable for fraud because he knowingly made material misrepresentations to Intermountain, including: (a) signing the leases for the three Rodeos as the lessee with no intention of making any payments on the vehicles; (b) committing to maintain insurance with no intention of doing so; (c) agreeing to terms that obligated him to maintain control of the vehicle when he had no intention to do so; and

(d) failing to disclose that he was promised \$10,000 in exchange for his signature on the leases. (CL, ¶ 54).

The trial court did not find either Mr. or Ms. Lawrence participated in any of these misrepresentation. To the contrary, the trial court stated it could not find any affirmative misrepresentations made directly by the Lawrences to Intermountain and, for that reason, could not find the Lawrences liable for fraud. (CL, ¶¶ 60 & 64). Further, none of the acts by the Lawrences, as discussed more fully below, related to Mr. Wong's overt acts, which were made when he executed the leases. These acts were not material to the formation of any conspiracy.

The trial court, nevertheless, found the Lawrences liable for conspiracy to defraud, although their acts were committed at times other than the execution of leases. The trial court, CL ¶¶ 59, 61 & 65, found the Lawrences liable for conspiracy to commit fraud based only on the following:

1. With respect to Ms. Lawrence:
  - a. Approximately one month before Ms. Lawrence obtained possession of the Black Rodeo, West Valley Dodge repossessed a Durango from the Lawrences that had been leased by Mr. Schwenke under a similar arrangement. (CL, ¶ 61).

To suggest the filing of the West Valley Dodge case merits a finding that there was a pattern of filing claims against automobile dealers by Ms. Lawrence in order to receive a vehicle for use and not pay for it is pure conjecture and speculation, contrary to the instructions of *Israel Pagan Estate v. Cannon*, 746 P.2d 785, 793 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (“The evidence must do more than merely raise a suspicion-it must lead to belief that the

conspiracy existed.”). The West Valley Dodge complaint is for unlawful repossession, not breach of contract, as in the instant case. There is no evidence in the record of a “similar arrangement.” Further, even assuming the West Valley Dodge case was frivolous, of which there is no probative evidence, it is not unlawful. The filing of a frivolous claim is not a form of fraud. *Gildea v. Guardian Title Co.*, 970 P.2d 1265, 1270 (Utah 1998). In the words of Judge Posner, “[S]ince when is a frivolous claim a form of fraud?” *Oxford Clothes XX v. Expeditors Intern*, 127 F.3d 574, 577 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997).

- b. Ms. Lawrence participated in the \$10,000 offered to Mr. Wong to induce him to sign the leases from which she would benefit by receiving and using one of the vehicles. (CL, ¶ 61).

The trial court based this conclusion entirely on a judicial admission by Ms. Lawrence found in the Complaint she had never read, prepared by an attorney she never retained. As argued below, the trial court erred in relying on a judicial admission. Even if the judicial admission stands, there is nothing unlawful about paying someone to be a credit facilitator in a lease transaction. The trial stated it could not “conclude that Ms. Lawrence had an affirmative duty to disclose that inducement to Intermountain, or that her failure to disclose the inducement constituted a misrepresentation by material omission.” (FF, ¶60, n. 15).

- c. Ms. Lawrence was present at the time the leases were negotiated and signed, and she was generally aware of the anticipated financial terms. (CL, ¶ 61)

Ms. Lawrence was not a signatory to the lease and was not bound by the terms thereof. Non-parties to a contract cannot be bound by the terms thereof. *See, e.g., Metropolitan Alloys Corp. v. State Metals Indus., Inc.*, 416 F.Supp. 561 (E.D. Mich.

2006). Likewise, Ms. Lawrence's general awareness of the payment terms was not unlawful and did not bind her to the lease.

- d. Ms. Lawrence took possession of the Black Rodeo with no intention or expectation of making any payments on the vehicle, nor did she make any effort to ensure payments would be made. (CL, ¶ 61).

Again, Ms. Lawrence was not a signatory to the lease and was not contractually bound to make payments. She neither had a duty to make the payments nor to ensure payments were made. Although she had possession of a vehicle, she understood cSave.net to be making payments. (Trans., Vol. I. Page 199, lines 10-12).

- e. Ms. Lawrence lent her name to a lawsuit designed to impede Intermountain's efforts to recover the vehicle she was using without lawful claim. (CL, ¶ 61).

Ms. Lawrence did not know a lawsuit had been filed on her behalf and did not retain the attorney who filed the lawsuit. (Trans., Vol. I, p. 195, lines 11-14, Vol. III. p. 342, lines 3-5). Even if the lawsuit was frivolous, it was not unlawful, as Judge Posner noted. *Oxxford Clothes XX*, 127 F.3d at 577 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997). As soon as the Lawrences learned Intermountain was attempting repossession of the vehicle, Mr. Lawrence returned it to Mr. Schwenke, owner of cSave.net, the company he understood had leased the vehicle. (CL, ¶66). There is nothing unlawful in this conduct.



2. With respect to Mr. Lawrence:

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