2008

Wilma L. Schwenke, Tania P. Schwenke, Cindy Lawrence, and Wayne Wong v. Intermountain, Inc., a Utah corporation, doing business as Intermountain Isuzu; Isuzu LT; a business trust, Isuzu Motors Acceptance Corporation, a California corporation; and Bank of America, N.A.. a DC corporation v. Wilma L. Schwenke; Tania P. Schwenke; Cindy Lawrence; Wayne Wong; Victor Lawrence; cSave.net, LLC; and Paul Schwenke :

## Brief of Appellee

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

As the assignee of Bank of America's rights, Intermountain is entitled to recover of the Lawrences damages for their conversion, i.e., their unauthorized use and possession of the black Rodeo for the ten month period prior to January 31, 2001. The Assignment executed by Bank of America assigned to Intermountain "all of its right, title and interest in the Lease Agreement . . . and the Leased Vehicle." Int. Trial. Exh. 61. According to the Indiana Court of Appeals:

As a general rule, a valid and unqualified assignment operates to transfer to the assignee all the right, title, or interest of the assignor

in or to the property or property rights that are comprehended within the terms of the assignment. Such transfer confers a complete and present right in the subject matter to the assignee.

Rasp v. Hidden Valley Lake, Inc., 519 N.E.2d 153, 158 (Ind. App. 1988). Bank of America sold and assigned to Intermountain “all rights” related to the black Rodeo. “All rights” would include claims that belonged to Bank of America prior to January 31, 2001 for the Lawrences’ unauthorized use and possession of the black Rodeo.

**(2). The Lawrences’ argument on appeal that Intermountain lacked standing to allege against them a cause of action for conversion because that cause of action belonged instead to Bank of America, is an affirmative defense that the Lawrences waived by not pleading it.**

In its First Amended Answer, Counterclaim, and Third-party Complaint filed May 7, 2001 (R. 526), Intermountain disclosed that it had repurchased from Bank of America the black Rodeo and obtained an assignment of Bank of America’s rights. ¶39 (R. 533). Intermountain pleaded a cause of action against the Lawrences for conversion, as Bank of America’s assignee, for the Lawrences’ unauthorized ten month possession of the black Rodeo, Victor Lawrence’s interference with Intermountain’s attempted repossession, and Victor Lawrence’s delivery of the black Rodeo to A. Paul Schwenke. Answer/Counterclaim at 13-15 (R. 526, 538-40); see also ¶¶31-32, 36, 39-43 of Intermountain’s Answer/Counterclaim (R. 532-534). In response to Intermountain’s pleading and stated cause of action for conversion, the Lawrences did not plead that Intermountain lacked standing to assert, as assignee of Bank of America’s rights, the conversion claim Bank of America had for the Lawrences’ unauthorized use of the black Rodeo. See Lawrences’ and others’ Answer (R. 738, 740-745).

“Lack of standing” to plead a certain cause of action is an affirmative defense. 61 Am.Jur.2d Pleading §316 (1999). An affirmative defense that is not pleaded is waived. Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c) and 12(h); Golding v. Ashley Cent. Irr. Co., 793 P.2d 897, 899 (Utah 1990) (failure to plead statutory immunity as an affirmative defense); Mabey v. Kay Peterson Constr. Co., 682 P.2d 287, 289 (Utah 1984) (failure to plead mutual mistake as an affirmative defense); Bezner v. Continental Dry Cleaners, Inc., 548 P.2d 898, 901 (Utah 1976) (failure to plead waiver as an affirmative defense).

**C. The Lawrences, again, fail to Marshal the Facts and Arguments that Support the Trial Court’s Findings of Fact and its Conclusion that Victor Lawrence and Cindy Lawrence were Each Liable in Conversion.**

Again, the Lawrences pick at selected issues and findings, and argue as they did below that they should not be found liable for conversion. They make no effort, though, to marshal the evidence that supports the trial court’s findings of fact on conversion or its conclusion that Victor and Cindy Lawrence were liable in conversion.

**D. The Court’s Findings of Fact Support its Conclusion that Victor Lawrence and Cindy Lawrence were Liable to Intermountain for Conversion.**

The trial court made detailed Findings of Fact, ¶¶2-43 (R. 2079), which, for the most part, the Lawrences ignore. The trial court, furthermore, in very specific fashion, stated its reasons for concluding, based on the facts it found, why Victor Lawrence was liable for conversion, ¶66 (R. 2093), and why Cindy Lawrence was liable for conversion, ¶62 (R. 2092). See also, especially Findings of Fact ¶¶6-7, 11-12, 19, 28-29 and 34 (R. 2080-2085).

Bank of America, not Wayne Wong and not Cindy or Victor Lawrence, owned the black Rodeo during the time period May 1, 2000 through January 31, 2001. As lessee, Wong had the right to possess the black Rodeo so long, but only so long as he made the monthly lease payments to Bank of America, according to the terms of his contract. See Int. Trial Exh. 1. Neither Victor nor Cindy Lawrence, though, had any right to possess and use the black Rodeo. Wong's contract with Bank of America prohibited Wong from assigning his interest in the lease or the vehicle, and he was not allowed to sublease the vehicle. Lease Agreement, general provision 16 (at R. 49, 52); also Int. Trial Exh. 1. Moreover, Wong testified at trial that he did not authorize Victor or Cindy Lawrence's use of the black Rodeo. According to Wong, he never saw any of the leased vehicles after he signed lease agreements and he did not know who thereafter possessed them.

The Complaint nonetheless identified the black Rodeo as "Cindy's car." Complaint, ¶¶ 34(4) and 35(3) ( R. 6-7). Plaintiffs' Answers to Interrogatories, dated October 17, 2000, also identified the black Rodeo as being "Cindy's car." Int. Trial Exh. 83, pp. 2-3. Cindy and Victor Lawrence used and drove the black Rodeo for ten months, although neither they nor Wong paid for its use. Cindy and Victor continued to drive it, despite the demands for payment made by Bank of America on co-plaintiff and co-conspirator Wayne Wong, see Int. Trial Exh. 20, which were ignored. It appears they intended to keep on using the black Rodeo – for free – until and unless someone with the right and means to do so took it from them.

When Intermountain attempted to repossess the black Rodeo on January 31, 2001, it was in Victor Lawrence's possession, as he had driven it to work. Moreover, when Victor Lawrence

was confronted with the realization that Intermountain was trying to repossess the black Rodeo, he deliberately chose to deliver it to Paul Schwenke, even though the trial court found that he knew that Wong, not Schwenke, was the lessee. He did so, reasonably knowing that Schwenke intended not to surrender the vehicle to Intermountain or to Bank of America. In doing so, he interfered with Intermountain's legal right to take possession of the black Rodeo. See Utah Code § 70A-2a-525 (as amended 1993).<sup>6</sup> This act of interference with Intermountain's lawful right on January 31, 2001 to possession of the black Rodeo itself establishes a basis on which to hold Victor Lawrence liable for conversion, as the trial court did. Findings and Conclusions ¶¶ 28 and 29 (R. 2084); Id., ¶66 (R. 2093). "A conversion may be based upon the unreasonable withholding of possession from one who has the right to possess it." Queen v. Lynch Jewelers, LLC, 55 P.3d 914, 921 (Kan. App. 2002); see also Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 237 (1965), which states that:

One in possession of a chattel as bailee or otherwise who, on demand, refuses without proper qualification to surrender it to another entitled to its immediate possession, is subject to liability for conversion.

---

<sup>6</sup> Victor Lawrence argued below, and argues in his Brief on appeal that Intermountain had no legal right to possess the black Rodeo until and unless armed with a court order or writ of replevin. See, Appellant's Brief at 28. His position is incorrect, as a Writ of Replevin or Court Order confirms a right to possession that exists before entry of a Writ or Order. Lawrence also argues that Intermountain could take possession of the black Rodeo only if it could do so without breaching the peace. Appellant's Brief at 28. In making this argument, Lawrence relies on Utah Code § 70A-9a-609(2), which applies to secured transactions, not leases. Finally, it was Lawrence who breached the peace, by physically attacking Mr. Watkins.

**E. The Trial Court was Justified in Assessing Greater Damages against Victor Lawrence than Against Cindy Lawrence for Conversion.**

The trial court awarded to Intermountain compensatory damages in the sum of \$3,625.40 for Cindy Lawrence's conversion of the black Rodeo which, it explained, represented "the fair rental of the black Rodeo from April 1, 2000 to January 31, 2001 at \$ 362.54" per month, plus prejudgment interest thereon. Findings and Conclusions, ¶69 (R. 2094). It held Victor Lawrence jointly and severally liable for this amount of damages, for the same reason. Id.

The trial court, in distinguishing Victor's conduct from Cindy's, held that Victor Lawrence's liability for damages caused by conversion was greater than Cindy's. It did so, first, because Victor Lawrence, on January 31, 2001, thwarted Intermountain's attempt to recover the black Rodeo and, thus, interfered with Intermountain's right to immediate possession of the vehicle, as its owner. Second, knowing that Intermountain had attempted to repossess the black Rodeo, and knowing that he had no right to its continued possession or use, Victor Lawrence gave the black Rodeo to Paul Schwenke (and not to Intermountain, Wayne Wong, or Bank of America) – who delivered the black Rodeo to his relatives in California, who also drove it without paying for its use until they totaled it in a single vehicle accident outside Compton, California. In distinguishing Victor Lawrence's conduct on and after January 31, 2001, the court concluded that the damages to be assessed against him, for conversion, were properly in the amount of \$34,284.20, "representing Intermountain's cost to recover and purchase the black Rodeo less the \$1,200 it recovered by selling it." Findings and Conclusions, ¶¶35, 66, 69 (R. 2085, 2093-2094); see also Mahana, ¶26 (holding that, "To the extent possible, the fundamental

purpose of compensatory damages is to place the plaintiff in the same position he would have occupied had the tort not been committed.)”

Whether a trial court applied the correct rule for measuring damages is a question of law that an appellate court reviews for correctness. Mahana, ¶25. Victor Lawrence does not, on appeal, however, contend that the court’s method of determining his damages for conversion was erroneous. See Appellant’s Brief, Point 4 on conversion, at 27-30. Instead, the Lawrences’ argument on appeal appears to be limited to whether Intermountain had standing to assert a claim against them for conversion, given that (1) Bank of America owned the black Rodeo from April 1, 2000 to January 31, 2001, and (2) that Intermountain, allegedly, breached the peace when it tried to repossess the black Rodeo on January 31, 2001.

**5. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING ON VICTOR AND CINDY LAWRENCE PUNITIVE DAMAGES.**

Utah Code § 78B-8-201(1) (formerly codified at § 78-18-1) provides:

Except as otherwise provided by statute, punitive damages may be awarded only if compensatory or general damages are awarded and it is established by clear and convincing evidence that the acts or omissions of the tortfeasor are the result of willful and malicious or intentionally fraudulent conduct, or conduct that manifests a knowing and reckless indifference toward, and a disregard of, the rights of others.

Subsection (2) of § 78B-8-201 provides that:

Evidence of a party’s wealth or financial condition shall be admissible only after a finding of liability for punitive damages has been made.

The commission of an intentional tort may warrant the imposition of punitive damages. Punitive damages thus may be awarded where the defendant is found liable for conversion, see Mahana v. Onyx Acceptance Corp., 2004 UT 59; for fraud, see Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange, 817 P.2d 789 (Utah 1991); and for conspiracy to defraud, 15A C.J.S. Conspiracy § 45 (2002).

The Court, following the trial in June, 2007, determined that the conduct of Victor Lawrence, Cindy Lawrence, and Wayne Wong warranted the entry of punitive damages, in addition to compensatory damages. See Findings and Conclusions, ¶¶67. It thereafter scheduled and held a second trial, at which time it received evidence concerning the Lawrences' and Wayne Wong's financial situation, and other evidence concerning factors to be considered in assessing punitive damages. Following the second trial, the court awarded punitive damages against the three defendants in the following amounts: against Cindy Lawrence, in the sum of \$99,999.99; against Victor Lawrence, in the sum of \$484,000; against Wayne Wong, in the sum of \$138,267.25.

The trial court correctly premised its conclusion that punitive damages were warranted against Victor and Cindy Lawrence, on Utah Code § 78-18-1 (now § 78B-8-201). Findings and Conclusions, ¶¶53, 67, and 70 (R. 2088-2094); and Supp. Findings and Conclusions, ¶¶1 and 21 (R. 2499-2505). It made extremely detailed findings of fact following the second trial, see Supp. Findings and Conclusions, ¶¶1-67 (R. 2498-2518). It considered and weighed the seven factors that the Utah Supreme Court, in Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange, 817 P.2d 789, 808 (Utah 1991), held that trial courts should consider in determining what quantum of punitive damages is appropriate. See Supp. Findings and Conclusions, at 27-44 (R. 2524-2541). It analyzed,



separately, the conduct of each of the remaining defendants with reference to Crookston's seven factors. It acknowledged constraints on the amount of punitive damages to be awarded imposed by BMW of North America v. Gore, 217 U.S. 559 (1966) and defended its conclusions in light of, and by reference to Gore. Supp. Findings and Conclusions, at 26-27 (R. 2523-2524).

The seven factors that a trial court must consider in determining the amount of punitive damages are, according to Crookston: (1) the relative wealth of the defendant; (2) the nature of the alleged conduct; (3) the facts and circumstances surrounding such conduct; (4) the effect thereof on the lives of the plaintiff and others; (5) the probability of future recurrence of the misconduct; (6) the relationship of the parties; and (7) the amount of actual damages awarded.

No relative weights, however, are assigned or have been assigned to the seven factors.

Crookston, 808. None of the factors are more conclusive or more important than another.

Campbell v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 2001 UT 89 ¶49, reversed and remanded, 538 U.S. 408 (2003). The seven factors are guidelines and not elements to be proven, and the absence of one of the factors in a given case does not mean that punitive damages are unwarranted. See e.g., Hall v. Wal-Mart Stores, 959 P.2d 109 (Utah 1998) (plaintiff's failure to introduce any evidence concerning defendant's wealth did not preclude an award of punitive damages). "Whether punitive damages should be awarded is generally a question of fact within the sound discretion of the fact finder and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion."

Firkins v. Ruegner, 2009 UT App 167, 213 P.3d 895.

Against the trial court's very deliberate approach to determining the appropriate measure of punitive damages to be awarded, and its detailed Supplemental Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law (R. 2498), the Lawrences, for the most part, simply restate the argument they made in their Trial Brief (R. 2426) and in their closing argument on March 11, 2008, Tr. 247-253. They make no effort to marshal facts or argument that supports the trial court's decision that punitive damages were warranted, or that support the amount of punitive damages it concluded was appropriate. The Lawrences, for the most part, ignore the trial court's "Crookston analysis," R. 2524-2538, and instead re-argue the position they presented to the trial court. They, in effect, ask that the Court of Appeals close its eyes to the trial court's analysis and adopt the Lawrences' analysis instead.

The Lawrences do argue that the court erred in imposing on them punitive damages for conspiracy to defraud Intermountain, because they could not be liable for conspiracy to defraud unless they, personally, misrepresented material facts to Intermountain on which it relied to its detriment. As the Lawrences' legal argument on this point is incorrect, their liability for conspiracy to defraud alone supports the trial court's award of punitive damages.

The Lawrences argue that punitive damages against them, if affirmed, should be based only on conversion, and on compensatory damages in the amount of only \$3,625.40 – the fair rental value of the black Rodeo for the ten months the Lawrences used and drove it. First, this argument is moot if the Court of Appeals affirms the trial court's findings and conclusion that the Lawrences were liable based on conspiracy to defraud which, the trial court found, caused Intermountain damages in the amount of \$80,412.87, plus prejudgment interest in the amount of \$57,854.38. Second, it ignores, as to Victor Lawrence, the greater amount of compensatory damages awarded against him for conversion, \$34,284.20 plus prejudgment interest, because of

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